THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

Lower Court Case No. 2014-CP-10-569
Appellate Case No. 2015-002025

RECEIVED
MAR 31 2016
SC Court of Appeals

William Huck and Dianne Huck.....Respondents,

v.

Oakland Wings, LLC d/b/a Wild Wing Cafe, Civil Site Environmental, Inc.,
Oakland Properties, LLC, Chandler Construction Services, Inc., Avtex
Commercial Properties, Inc.,Defendants,

Of Whom Avtex Commercial Properties, Inc. is the.....Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT,
AVTEX COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES, INC.**

K. Michael Barfield, Esquire
S.C. State Bar No.: 69400

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING THE MOTION OF AVTEX COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES TO DISCLOSE SETTLEMENT AND IN DENYING THE MOTION TO ALTER OR AMEND JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO SCRCP 59(e)?
- B. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING THE MOTION OF AVTEX COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES FOR SET-OFF AND IN DENYING THE MOTION TO ALTER OR AMEND JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO SCRCP 59(e)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Procedural History

This appeal stems from a premises liability lawsuit filed on January 28, 2014 by Respondents, William Huck and Dianne Huck. On June 3, 2015, Appellant, Avtex Commercial Properties, Inc. filed a Motion for Disclosure of Settlement, Motion for Setoff, and in the Alternative, Motion to Determine Whether Settlements with Chandler Construction Services and Civil Site Environmental, Inc. were Made in Good Faith. (R. p. 144). On July 27, 2015, the trial court issued an Order denying Defendant Avtex Commercial Properties, Inc.'s Motion for JNOV and Motion to Disclose Settlement and for Setoff (R. pp. 4-15). Appellant timely filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment pursuant to SCRCP 59(e) issued by Judge Brian M. Gibbons on August 14, 2015, and filed with the Court on August 7, 2015 (R. p. 156). The Notice of Entry of Judgment of the Order Denying Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend that Judgment was received by counsel for Appellant on August 24, 2015. (R. p. 17). Avtex Commercial Properties, Inc. ("Appellant") timely appeals the following Orders: (1) Order of the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons dated July 23, 2015 and filed on July 27, 2015, denying the Motion of Avtex Commercial Properties, Inc.'s Motion to Disclose Settlement and for Set-Off (R. p. 4), to which Appellant timely filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment Pursuant to SCRCP

59(e) on August 7, 2015 (R. p. 156); and (2) Order of the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons Denying Avtex's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment. (R. p. 16).

II. Statement of the Facts

On July 13, 2012, William Huck, went to eat lunch at a Wild Wing Café, which is located in The Market at Oakland in Mt. Pleasant, South Carolina. After parking in a lot adjacent to the restaurant, Mr. Huck proceeded to the intersection of Oakland Market Road and South Morgans Point Road and entered the walkway into The Market at Oakland in front of Wild Wing Café. Mr. Huck slipped and fell approximately where the crosswalk and the base of the ramp to the sidewalk intersected. It had rained just prior to Mr. Huck's arrival. He alleged that the ramp was defective because it was improperly sloped, a puddle of water had accumulated at its base, and debris was present in and around the puddle. Mr. Huck and his wife (collectively referred to as "Plaintiffs" or "Respondents") subsequently brought this suit for negligence and loss of consortium against Oakland Wings, LLC d/b/a Wild Wing Café ("Wild Wing Café"), Civil Site Environmental, Inc. ("CSE")¹, Oakland Properties, LLC ("Oakland")², Chandler Construction Services, Inc. ("Chandler")³, and Avtex Commercial Properties, Inc. ("Avtex")⁴. Prior to trial, CSE and Chandler settled with Plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs proceeded to a jury trial against Wild Wing Café, Oakland, and Avtex (hereinafter referred to collectively as "Defendants") beginning on May 18, 2015. (R. p. 4) (Order, p. 1). At the conclusion of the Plaintiffs' case in chief, the trial court granted Defendants' Motion for Directed Verdict as to Plaintiff Dianne Huck's loss of consortium

¹ CSE performed design work for the walking surfaces at issue.

² Oakland is the entity created for the ownership of The Market at Oakland.

³ Chandler provided construction services at the area at issue.

⁴ Avtex is the property developer of and property management company for The Market at Oakland.

claim finding that Mrs. Huck had failed to present any evidence in support of that claim. (R. pp. 4-5) (Order, pp. 1-2). Trial testimony and jury deliberations were concluded by May 21, 2015. (R. p. 4) (Order, p. 1). At the close of all evidence, Wild Wing, Oakland, and Avtex renewed their Rule 50(a) directed verdict motion as to Mr. Huck's negligence cause of action, which the trial court denied. The matter was then submitted to the jury for determination, which returned defense verdicts in favor of Oakland and Wild Wings. Judgment was entered in favor of Wild Wing and Oakland, and they were dismissed from the action. However, the jury found in favor of Plaintiff William Huck against Avtex in the amount of \$97,640.00. (R. p. 5) (Order, p. 2). They further found that Mr. Huck was 50% comparatively negligent, which reduced the judgment against Avtex to \$48,820.00. (*Id.*).

ARGUMENTS

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION OF AVTEX COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES TO DISCLOSE SETTLEMENT AND IN DENYING AVTEX'S MOTION TO ALTER OR AMEND THE JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO SCRPC 59(e)

Avtex made a post-trial motion to compel the disclosure of the Plaintiffs' settlement terms with CSE and Chandler, which the trial court denied. The trial court erroneously concluded that it "is not permitted to compel the disclosure of the terms of the settlements between CSE and either Mr. Huck, Mrs. Huck, or both, and [Chandler] and either Mr. Huck, Mrs. Huck, or both as this is specifically prevented by the South Carolina Rules governing Alternative Dispute Resolution." (R. p. 7) (Order, p. 4). The trial court improperly relied on the standard applied by the Fourth Circuit in *In re Anonymous*, 283 F.3d 627 (2002). (R. p. 11) (Order, p. 8). That court applied a "manifest injustice" standard, which only applies to a court's decision to compel disclosure of

communications arising out of mediation. (*Id.*) *In re Anonymous* was a federal attorney disciplinary action regarding a fee dispute. 283 F.3d 627 (2002). The court in that matter sought to determine when it might be appropriate to disclose communications within a mediation to a third-party tribunal in an unrelated matter. *Id.* As such, the “manifest injustice” standard has no bearing on the disclosure of settlement amounts for set-offs and/or determining whether claims for contribution among joint tortfeasors may exist. *Id.*

In addition, the trial court relied on Rule 8 of the South Carolina Alternative Dispute Resolution Rules to support the contention it is not permitted to compel the disclosure of the terms of the settlements between the parties that settled prior to trial. Rule 8, SCADR, provides in pertinent part:

(a) Confidentiality. Communications *during a mediation settlement conference* shall be confidential. Additionally, the parties, their attorneys and any other person present must execute an Agreement to Mediate that *protects the confidentiality of the process*. To that end, the parties and any other person present shall maintain the confidentiality of the mediation and shall not rely on, or introduce as evidence in any arbitral, judicial or other proceeding, any oral or written communications *having occurred in a mediation proceeding*

Rule 8, SCADR (emphasis added). All parties in this case attended and participated in a mediation prior to trial during which Respondents reached a settlement with CSE and Chandler. (R. p. 4) (Order, p. 1). Appellant Avtex was not provided with any information concerning the terms of William and Dianne Huck’s settlements with CSE and Chandler. The settlement documents, namely the releases signed by Respondents outlining the terms of the settlement, are not only relevant but are necessary to facilitate proper post trial procedure in this case. *See Wilshire v. WFOI, LLC*, 2015 WL 1643456 (D.S.C. April 14, 2015) (holding that settlement agreement was relevant to defendants’ claim or defense due to the potential for a set-off). The intent of Rule 8 of the South

Carolina Alternative Dispute Resolution Rules is to protect negotiations and discussions within mediation, not settlement agreements arising out of mediation. Using the SCADR rules to circumvent statutory mandates and established law and procedure is improper. This case undisputedly involves issues of joint and several liability among CSE, Chandler, and Avtex. Respondents' Complaint does not distinguish or differentiate the damages between the Defendants. As such, Avtex is entitled to an automatic set-off for the settlement amounts paid by CSE and Chandler pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-50, which is discussed in more detail in the following section.

A confidentiality provision in a mediation agreement or release does not operate to shield a settlement agreement from being produced. As recognized by the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, “[t]here is an important distinction between privilege and protection of documents, the former acting to shield the documents from production in the first instance, with the latter operating to preserve confidentiality when produced. An appropriate protective order can alleviate problems and concerns regarding confidentiality.” *Virami v. Novant Health, Inc.*, 249 F.3d 284, 288 n.4 (4th Cir. 2001). Several courts have examined and determined that a settlement agreement is relevant and discoverable due to the potential for a set-off. *See, e.g., Wilshire v. WFOI, LLC*, 2015 WL 1643456 (D.S.C. April 14, 2015)(holding that settlement agreement was relevant to defendants' claim or defense due to the potential for a set-off); *Spilker v. Medtronic, Inc.*, No. 4:13-CV-76-H, 2014 WL 4760292, at *3 (E.D.N.C. Sept.24, 2014) (“In the present case, the settlement agreement is relevant to assess Defendants' exposure to possible damages.”); *Zlotogura v. Progressive Direct Ins. Co.*, No. CIV-12-516-M, 2013 WL 1855879, at *2 (W.D.Okla. May 3, 2013) (“[T]he Court finds that the

settlement agreement is relevant to the claims and defenses in this action.”); *Tanner v. Johnson*, No. 2:11-cv-00028-TS-DSP, 2013 WL 121158, at *4 (D.Utah Jan.8, 2013) (“Clearly, ... defendants have standing to request discovery of Plaintiffs' and their codefendants' settlement agreement where Plaintiffs originally accused both sets of defendants of joint wrongdoing.”); *Jackson v. Strategic Rests. Acquisition Co.*, No. 11-268-JJB-DLD, 2012 WL 1455213, at *3 (M.D.La. Apr.26, 2012) (finding that the settlement agreements at issue “meet, albeit barely, the threshold requirement that they be relevant to a claim or defense, or may lead to relevant information” and thus “must be produced”); *Oakridge Assocs., LLC v. Auto-Owners Ins. Co.*, No. 3:10-CV-145-DCK, 2010 WL 3788058, at *3 (W.D.N.C. Sept.23, 2010) (“The undersigned finds that the disputed Settlement Agreement should be subject to discovery due to the possibility it contains information relevant to the case.”). As the Western District of Virginia has explained, settlement agreements are relevant “to the amount of setoff to which the non-settling defendants would be entitled” and that the terms of the releases “are relevant to the non-settling defendants' continued liability and right of setoff.” *Selective Way Ins. Co. v. Schulle*, No. 3:13CV00040, 2014 WL 462807, at *2 (W.D.Va. Feb.5, 2014). Appellant Avtex has offered to enter into a protective order to abate any concerns regarding the privacy or confidentiality over the disclosure of the settlement amounts to third parties. Furthermore, to the extent the trial court held that the mediation agreement prohibits it from disclosing the settlement amounts to Avtex, Avtex was a party to the mediation agreement and is willing to maintain the confidentiality of the settlement amounts after disclosure. (Mediation Agreement, p. 1-2).

Extending the application of the confidentiality rules that apply to mediations so far as to prevent non-settling defendants from knowing what settling defendants have paid to the plaintiff sets a dangerous precedent. If used strategically, such a broad interpretation of the ADR Rules will swallow defendants' statutory rights to set-off for sums paid to plaintiff by joint tortfeasors. Avtex believes that some portion of the settling Defendants' funds was allocated to Mr. Huck's negligence claim. The trial court's Order operates to preclude Avtex from getting a set-off for even those amounts, regardless of whether a reallocation of these settlements is appropriate. To the extent that it is ultimately discovered that the settlement funds paid by settling Defendants in this case were allocated to Mrs. Huck's loss of consortium claim, Avtex reiterates that Plaintiffs elected not to put up this case at trial, and Avtex's Motion for Directed Verdict as to Mrs. Huck's consortium claim was granted. (R. pp. 4-5) (Order, pp. 1-2). Thus, if it is found that the majority of these proceeds were allocated to Mrs. Huck, the Court can and should allocate them to conform to the record.

Based on the foregoing, the trial court erroneously denied Appellant's Motion to Disclose Settlement. Therefore, Avtex respectfully requests this Court to reverse the ruling of the trial court denying Appellant's Motion to Disclose the Settlement between Respondents and CSE and Respondents and Chandler and the Order denying Avtex's Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment.

B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION OF AVTEX COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES FOR SET-OFF AND IN DENYING AVTEX'S MOTION TO ALTER OR AMEND THE JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO SCRCP 59(e)

Avtex is entitled to a set-off to account for the amounts CSE and Chandler each paid Plaintiffs to settle the claims against them. Respondents William Huck and Dianne

Huck brought causes of action for negligence and loss of consortium against Defendants. Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint does not distinguish or differentiate the damages between the Defendants. Prior to the trial of this matter, CSE and Chandler reached undisclosed settlements with Respondents, the terms of which are unknown to Avtex. (R. p. 4) (Order, p. 1). It is Avex's understanding based on representations by Respondents' counsel that Plaintiffs may have allocated a substantial percentage of the settlements with CSE and Chandler to Respondent Mrs. Huck's loss of consortium claim in an effort to deprive Avtex of a set-off. The purpose of the set-off doctrine is to prevent a plaintiff from a windfall or double recovery. "The Fourth Circuit has never recognized a settlement privilege or required a particularized showing in the context of a subpoena for confidential settlement documents." *Polston v. Eli Lilly & Co.*, No. 3:08-3639, 2010 WL 2926159, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 74720, at *4 (D.S.C. July 23, 2010). If Respondents allocated the majority of those settlement monies to the loss of consortium claim, that allocation would be unreasonable.

"A set-off is a counter-demand which a defendant holds against a plaintiff, arising out of a transaction extrinsic of plaintiff's cause of action, and the principles thereof may be applied both at law and in equity." 80 C.J.S. *Set-off and Counterclaim* 3 (1955). Thus, under certain circumstances, monies already received by the plaintiff are offset against that owed by the defendant. *See id.* Under South Carolina law, a non-settling defendant is entitled to a *pro tanto* reduction, which gives one tortfeasor credit for the amount paid by another tortfeasor in a settlement. *See Powers v. Temple*, 250 S.C. 149, 155, 156 S.E.2d 759, 761 (1967); *Ward v. Epting*, 290 S.C. 547, 351 S.E.2d 867, 875 (Ct. App. 1986). South Carolina's setoff rule rests on the "almost universally held [principle]

that there can only be one satisfaction for an injury or wrong.” *Truesdale v. South Carolina Highway Dep’t*, 264 S.C. 221, 213 S.E.2d 740, 746 (1975). Section 15-38-50 of the South Carolina Code applies to the facts of this case and provides in pertinent part:

When a release or a covenant not to sue or not to enforce judgment is given in good faith to one or two or more persons liable in tort for the same injury . . . :

- (1) it does not discharge any of the other tortfeasors from liability for the injury or wrongful death unless its terms so provide, but it reduced the claim against the others to the extent of any amount stipulated by the release or the covenant, or in the amount of consideration paid for it, whichever is the greater.

Set-off under Section 15-38-50 applies when two or more persons are liable for the “same injury.” The South Carolina Court of Appeals has interpreted the term “injury” broadly enough to include all damages which result from the same negligence of the responsible parties. In the present case, Respondents’ claims against Avtex arose out of the same factual scenario. “Section 15-38-50 grants the court no discretion in determining the equities involved in applying a set-off once a release has been executed in good faith between a plaintiff and one of several joint tortfeasors.” *Vortex Sports & Entertainment, Inc. v. Ware*, 378 S.C. 197, 662 S.E.2d 444 (Ct. App. 2008) (quoting *Ellis v. Oliver*, 335 S.C. 106, 112, 515 S.E.2d 268, 272 (Ct. App. 1999) (holding that when a prior settlement involves compensation for the same injury for which the jury awarded damages, the right to set-off arises as an operation of law); *Smith v. Widener*, 397 S.C. 468, 471-72, 724 S.E.2d 188, 190 (“[B]efore entering judgment on a jury verdict, the court must reduce the amount of the verdict to account for any funds previously paid by a settling defendant. . . . When the settlement is for the same injury, the nonsettling defendant’s right to a setoff arises by operation of law.”); See also *Check First of Greenville, LLC v. Merchant*

Services of the Upstate, Inc., 2015 WL 6566563 (S.C. Com. Pl.) (Trial Order) (July 17, 2015) (based on the facts of the case, the close connection of all claims involved between all original parties, and in the interests of equity, plaintiff was entitled to partial set-off in light of defendant's settlement with a co-defendant entered the week prior to trial). Accordingly, Avtex is entitled to a set-off in the amount of the settlements from CSE and Chandler.

During the trial, Respondents presented no evidence to support Mrs. Huck's loss of consortium claim. In fact, the Court granted Appellant's Motion for Directed Verdict as to that claim due to the undisputed lack of evidence or testimony to support a loss of consortium cause of action. (R. p. 4) (Order, p. 1). Furthermore, counsel for Respondents did not object to or offer any argument opposing the directed verdict motion as to the loss of consortium claim by Mrs. Huck. The fact that the record is devoid of any evidence to support Respondent's loss of consortium claim weighs in favor of allocating a majority of the proceeds to Mr. Huck's negligence claim. Otherwise, this Court will be allowing strategic gamesmanship by Respondents, potentially resulting in double-recovery by Respondents for the same injury. *See Atlas Food Systems and Services, Inc. v. Crane Nat. Vendors, Inc.*, 99 F.3d 587, 596, 65 USLW 2308 (4th Cir. 1996) ("Were [the Court] to indulge the parties' manipulative attribution of settlement amounts, [it] would compromise South Carolina's policy of permitting setoffs to ensure against multiple recovery for the same injury.").

Alternatively, if it is discovered that the overwhelming majority of settlement funds paid by CSE and Chandler were allocated to Mrs. Huck's unsubstantiated consortium claim, Avtex may have a right to seek contribution from those joint

tortfeasors. Thus, by allowing the settlement amounts to remain undisclosed, its right to seek contribution from the settling Defendants has been prejudiced. According to the South Carolina Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act (the “Act”), where two or more persons become jointly or severally liable in tort for the same injury to property, a right of contribution arises among them, even if judgment has not been recovered against all or any of them. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-20(A) (Supp. 2003); *Vermeer Carolina’s, Inc. v. Wood/Chuck Chipper Corp.*, 336 S.C. 53, 68, 518 S.E.2d 301, 309 (Ct. App. 1999). In these situations, the right of contribution exists in favor of a tortfeasor who has paid more than his pro rata share of the common liability. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-20(B) (Supp. 2003); *Vermeer*, 336 S.C. at 68, 518 S.E.2d at 309. Section 15-38-50 of the South Carolina Code conditions extinguishment of potential contribution claims by Avtex on the terms of the settlements between both Plaintiffs and CSE and Plaintiffs and Chandler being made in “good faith.” In the absence of a good faith settlement, Avtex could have a claim for contribution against Chandler and/or CSE.

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