IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-CP-10-0569

Appellate Case No. 2015-002025

**RECEIVED**

APR 11 2016

SC Court of Appeals

WILLIAM HUCK AND DIANE HUCK.....Plaintiffs/Respondents,

v.

OAKLAND WINGS, LLC d/b/a WILD WING CAFÉ,  
CIVIL SITE ENVIRONMENTAL, INC.,  
OAKLAND PROPERTIES, LLC,  
CHANDLER CONSTRUCTION SERVICES, INC.,  
AVTEX COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES, INC., .....Defendants,

Of Whom AVTEX COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES, INC., .....Appellant.

---

**RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

**PRITCHARD LAW GROUP, LLC**  
Edward K. Pritchard, III, Esquire

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

First, the proper way to create exceptions is to formally amend the ADR Rules. Even assuming this Court has the authority to do so, which it does not<sup>18</sup>, circumventing the amendment procedures is ill advised as it eliminates the required public and legislative input<sup>19</sup>. *See* S.C. CONST. art. V, § 4A; Sections 14-3-940 and 950, CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, as amended; *Order of the South Carolina Supreme Court*, No. 2006-05-03-04. Participants at mediation need certainty as to the rules under which they are operating. An ad hoc, case-by-case, judicially crafted approach to creating exceptions to mediation confidentiality – the approach Avtex is essentially advocating in this appeal –

---

in one’s brief is deemed abandoned and will not be considered, even if raised in the statement of issues on appeal. *E.g., Bell v. Bennett*, 307 S.C. 286, 414 S.E.2d 786 (Ct. App. 1992).

<sup>18</sup> *See* S.C. CONST. art. V, § 4A; Sections 14-3-940 and 950, CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, as amended.

<sup>19</sup> It should not go unmentioned that the Supreme Court recently rejected an amendment to Rule 8 which would, in effect, make settlement agreements exempt from confidentiality. On January 28, 2016, the South Carolina Supreme Court submitted to the General Assembly proposed changes to Rules 1, 4, 20, 23 and 24 of the Alternative Dispute Resolution Rules. *See Order of the South Carolina Supreme Court*, Appellate Case No. 2015-002643, dated January 28, 2016. The Supreme Court declined, however, to submit an amendment to Rule 8 which would include a new subsection (b), which, as proposed, reads: “**Waiver of Confidentiality**. Upon the signing by the parties of an agreement reached during mediation, confidentiality is waived unless otherwise agreed to by the parties.” *See R.* p.183 – p.186. It would indeed be ironic if, at Avtex urging, this Court were to adopt by judicial fiat an amendment to Rule 8 which the Supreme Court recently specifically declined to adopt through the formal rule making process.

will lead to confusion and uncertainty as to which information and documents are confidential and which are not, which in turn will greatly inhibit the effectiveness of the mediation process. "Were courts to cavalierly set aside confidentiality restrictions on disclosure of communications made in the context of mediation, parties might be less frank and forthcoming during the mediation process or might even limit their use of mediation altogether." *In re Residential Capital, LLC, supra* at 150.

Second, participants in a mediation rely on all parties, themselves included, being bound by the strict confidentiality provisions of Rule 8. As noted, "South Carolina has a strong policy favoring resolution of disputes through alternative dispute resolution. . . ." *C-Sculptures, LLC v. Brown, supra* at 56, 742 S.E.2d at 360. "The assurance of confidentiality is essential to the integrity and success of . . . mediation . . . , in that confidentiality encourages candor between the parties and on the part of the mediator, and confidentiality serves to protect . . . mediation . . . from being used as a discovery tool for creative attorneys." *In re Anonymous, supra* at 636; *accord Bernard v. Galen Group, Inc., supra; Wimsatt v. Superior Court, supra*. "'Promising participants confidentiality in these proceedings promotes the free flow of information that may result in the settlement of a dispute, and protecting the integrity of alternative dispute resolution generally.' Accordingly, parties' reliance on the confidentiality provided under a mediation order 'counsel[s] in favor of a presumption against modification of the confidentiality provisions of protective orders entered in the context of mediation.'" *In re Residential Capital, LLC, supra* at 150; *accord Bernard v. Galen Group, Inc., supra; Wimsatt v. Superior Court, supra*. "'If participants cannot rely on the confidential treatment of everything that transpires during [mediation] sessions then counsel of necessity will feel

constrained to conduct themselves in a cautious, tight-lipped, non-committal manner more suitable to poker players in a high-stakes game than to adversaries attempting to arrive at a just resolution of a civil dispute. This atmosphere if allowed to exist would surely destroy the effectiveness of” mediation. *In re Anonymous, supra* at 636 – 637; *accord Bernard v. Galen Group, Inc., supra; Wimsatt v. Superior Court, supra*. Altering the promise of mediation confidentially in any way is unwise. To do so would erode confidence in the mediation process and impede the current trend of having most cases resolve through mediation<sup>20</sup>. The policy reasons for providing clear guidance in the form of a bright line rule of unqualified strict adherence to mediation confidentiality are even stronger now that South Carolina has adopted mandatory mediation in most civil actions in all counties. *See Order 2015-11-12-04*.

Third, a “good cause” exception to confidentiality is the quintessential slippery slope. As any experienced archer or marksman knows - no matter how proficient and accurate he or she is – an arrow should never be allowed to leave the bow and a bullet should never be allowed to leave the rifle in the absence of a proper backstop; for if there is no backstop in place, there is no way to prevent the errant arrow or bullet from inflicting harm. As there is no way to backstop a “good cause” exception to mediation confidentiality, no matter how well crafted, it would be unwise to create one. If adopted, there will likely be no end to claims made by mediation participants that his, her it or their situation requires exemption from mediation confidentiality for “good cause” if it is advantageous for him, her, it or them to do so. Where is the line to be drawn as to what is

---

<sup>20</sup> It is certainly possible that no settlement agreement would have been reached between the Hucks and Civil Site or the Hucks and Chandler in the absence of a belief that the strict confidentiality requirement of Rule 8(a) would be strictly enforced without exception.

“good cause?” Will it be decided based on a case-by-case ad hoc basis? If so, how will a mediation participant know during mediation whether the mediation communications are truly confidential? The uncertainty created by such a rule will have a chilling effect on mediation.

Further, it is neither unreasonable nor unforeseeable that if a “good cause” exception is created, that the mediation confidentiality rule will become so riddled with judicially created exceptions such that confidentiality becomes the exception, not the rule.

It would, thus, be unwise to create a “good cause” exception to mediation confidentiality as sound public policy demands a bright line rule. In the absence of a bright line rule regarding mediation confidentiality, the effectiveness of the mediation process will be severely eroded to the point that the number of cases being resolved through mediation will likely be reduced to a slow trickle.

Avtex appears to take five different positions as to why the Order should be reversed. All are without merit<sup>21</sup>. As two are meritless for essentially the same reason, they will be addressed together.

Avtex maintains (1) that “[t]he settlement documents, namely the releases signed by the Respondents outlining the terms of the settlement, are not only relevant but are necessary to facilitate proper post trial procedure in this case;” and (2) that “[a] confidentiality provision in a mediation agreement or release does not operate to shield a

---

<sup>21</sup> One of Avtex’s positions is that the Circuit Court erred in applying the “manifest injustice” standard discussed *In Re Anonymous, supra*. As this issue as already been addressed, there is no point in addressing it a second time. See footnotes 14 and 16, *supra*. Another of Avtex’s arguments is that the settlement agreements do not fall within the scope of Rule 8(a)’s mediation confidentiality requirement. As it has already been clearly demonstrated above that the settlement agreements are clearly within the scope of Rule 8’s confidentiality provisions, that issue will not be discussed a second time.

settlement agreement from being produced.” *Final Brief of Appellant, Avtex Commercial Properties, Inc.*, p.4 - p.5. Both positions completely miss the point.

William Huck does not take and has never taken the position that the settlement agreements are not relevant<sup>22</sup> or that a confidentiality provision in a release in and of itself operates to shield a settlement agreements from production under ordinary circumstances<sup>23</sup>, assuming, of course, Avtex had properly sought its production, which it did not. Rather William Huck’s position is that Rule 8 both bars him from producing them to Avtex and bars Avtex from seeking them<sup>24</sup>. In taking these positions Avtex is mistakenly argues that the settlement agreements are properly the subject of discovery under the rules of civil procedure<sup>25</sup> when in reality Rule 8 is essentially an evidentiary rule

---

<sup>22</sup> To suggest that production of the settlement agreements is “necessary to facilitate proper post trial procedure in this case” is, to be kind, both overly dramatic and a gross over exaggeration. Avtex’s whole argument is premised on the notion that it is entitled to an off-set, which it is not.

<sup>23</sup> As will be explained below, however, in certain circumstances, such as the one presented in this matter, a confidentiality provision in combination with Rule 8(a)’s mediation confidentiality requirement does shield a settlement agreement from disclosure.

<sup>24</sup> None of the cases cited by Avtex hold that a confidential settlement agreement reached at mediation is discoverable despite mediation confidentiality requirements. See *Virami v. Novant Health, Inc.*, 259 F.3d 284 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001)(Peer review records); *Wilshire v. WFOI, LLC*, 2015 WL 1643456 (D.S.C. 2015)(plaintiff argued settlement agreement was not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence; mediation confidentiality not mentioned); *Selective Way Ins. Co. v. Schulle*, 2014 WL 462807 (W.D. Va. 2014)(settlement agreements entered into prior to mediation); *Spilker v. Medtronic, Inc.*, 2014 WL 4760292 (E.D.N.C. 2014)(pre-suit non-mediation related settlement agreement); *Zlotogura v. Progressive Direct Ins. Co.*, 2013 WL 1855879 (W.D. Okla. 2013)(non-mediation settlement agreement); *Tanner v. Johnston*, 2013 WL 121158 (D. Utah 2013)(non-mediation related settlement agreement); *Strategic Rests Acquisition Co.*, 2012 WL 1455213 (M.D. La. 2012) (non-mediation related settlement agreements in different actions); *Oakridge Assoc., LLC v. Auto-Owners Ins. Co.*, 2010 WL 3788058 (W.D.N.C. 2010)(non-mediation related settlement agreements in other case).

<sup>25</sup> Non-privileged, non-protected documents and information which is either relevant to the subject matter involved in the pending action or information which is reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence, “whether it relates to the claim or defense of the party seeking discovery or to the claim or defense of any other party.”

prohibiting disclosure<sup>26</sup>, though also a shield to disclosure under the Rules of Civil Procedure.

Avtex claims in conclusory fashion that “[u]sing the SCDAR rules to circumvent statutory mandates and established law and procedure is improper.” *Final Brief of Appellant, Avtex Commercial Properties, Inc.*, p.4. Avtex cites no authority nor does it make any further argument in support of this position. Given the lack of citation to authority and the conclusory nature of the argument, Avtex has abandoned this issue. *See, e.g., Parker v. Evening Post Publ'g Co.*, 317 S.C. 236, 452 S.E.2d 640 (Ct. App. 1994).

Avtex argues that the confidentiality requirement of Rule 8 cannot prevent it from discovering information or documents which arose out of and were made pursuant to mediation and which are materially related to the mediation if the effect is to deprive it of its right to a set-off<sup>27</sup>. This is simply not the case.

Mediation confidentiality rules are uniformly strictly construed even when the equities in the case suggest contrary results. As noted in *Wimsatt v. Superior Court, supra* at 219-220, 152 Cal.App.4th at 163-164:

Peter Robinson, the associate director of the Straus Institute for Dispute Resolution and assistant professor of law at Pepperdine University School of Law, has gathered a number of cases across the country in which courts have been asked to enforce or avoid mediated agreements. . . . The nonexhaustive list of cases includes situations raising arguments about whether a mediated agreement was reached, whether there was fraud, duress or mistake, and whether the agreement violated public policy. The situations include cases where a party was lied to by her own attorney, the mediator, and a third party; a scrivener's error in a mediated settlement lead to a \$600,000 windfall to one party; parties claimed their own attorney

---

<sup>26</sup> Avtex suggestion that a “protective order can alleviate problems and concerns regarding confidentiality” serves emphasizes Avtex’s confusion as protective orders address discovery not evidentiary issues. *Final Brief of Appellant, Avtex Commercial Properties, Inc.*, p.5.

<sup>27</sup> Throughout its brief, Avtex seems to assume that if William Huck received any settlement proceeds from Civil Site or Chandler, it has an automatic God given right to a set-off. As will be discussed, Avtex is mistaken.

coerced them into signing a settlement agreement; a mother waived parental rights; and the parties agreed to perform an illegal act in the mediated agreement.

[Mediation confidentiality provisions have] allowed to go unpunished sanctionable conduct that frustrated the purpose of mediation, foreclosed litigants from gathering evidence that might prove toxic molds and other microbes created health hazards, precluded a propria persona litigant from proving the terms of a mediated agreement and shielded from view evidence of criminal conduct.

In each of the above cases, the court concluded that the importance of upholding mediation confidentiality outweighed the potential harm resulting from non-disclosure. In comparison to some of the circumstances described above, the possible deprivation of Avtex's phantom off-set rights is *de minimis*.

Avtex apparently misses the fact that urging this Court to permit it to discover the settlement agreements is little more than a fool's errand: even were this Court to permit Avtex to discover the settlement agreements, they are not admissible into evidence in support of its reapportionment and set-off motions.

Rule 8 makes abundantly clear that not only are documents materially related to and which fostered, arose out of and were made pursuant to mediation not discoverable, but a participant in the mediation "shall not rely on, or introduce as evidence in any arbitral, judicial or other proceeding, any oral or written communications having occurred in a mediation proceeding. . . ." *See also Wimsatt v. Superior Court, supra* (mediation confidentiality is among other things an evidentiary restriction). Thus, even if this Court were to find that Avtex could discover the settlement agreements, Avtex is barred from using them in support of its motions for reapportionment and set-off. Since Avtex failed to raise or argue this point, Avtex has abandoned this issue and is now barred from taking the position that it can introduce the settlement agreements into evidence. *See Rules*

208(b)(1)(B) and 220(c), SCACR; *I'on, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000)(This Court may, of course, affirm the Order "upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal"); *Richland Cnty. Sch. Dist. Two v. S.C. Dep't. of Educ.*, 335 S.C. 491, 517 S.E.2d 444 (Ct. App. 1999)("Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal."); *Bell v. Bennett*, 307 S.C. 286, 414 S.E.2d 786 (Ct. App. 1992)(issue not argued in brief is deemed abandoned and will not be considered, even if raised in the statement of issues on appeal).

Further, Avtex overlooks the fact that it specifically agreed that "no document prepared for the purpose of, or in the course of, the mediation, or copy thereof," is discoverable and that even it were entitled to discover the settlement agreements, it is barred from introducing them into evidence in support of its motion for re-allocation and its motion for set-off.

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